

# UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PADOVA

Dipartimento di Psicologia Generale

Corso di Laurea Magistrale in Neuroscienze e Riabilitazione Neuropsicologica

Tesi di Laurea Magistrale

The impact of different psychoeducational approaches in people with and without mental disorders. Video watching versus text reading and learning outcome

*Relatrice* **Prof.ssa Elena Tenconi** 

Correlatore esterno Prof. Steffen Moritz

> Laureando: Michele Matthew Freyhoff Matricola: 1227965

Anno Accademico 2021-2022

# Table of contents

Riepilogo1
Abstract
Chapter 1: Introduction5
Chapter 2: Theoretical background7
2.1 Learning theories7
2.2 Video-based learning10
2.3 Cognitive load14
2.4 Video-based learning in individuals with mental disorders17
Chapter 3: Research questions and hypotheses21
Chapter 4: Methods23
4.1 Aim of the study23
4.2 Design23
4.3 Participants24
4.4 Materials25
4.5 Procedure
4.6 Measures28
4.7 Statistical Analyses
Chapter 5: Data analysis and results
5.1 Group allocation33

5.2 Participants characteristics	33
5.3 Repeated measures ANOVA	35
5.4 Repeated measures ANCOVA	37
Chapter 6: Discussion	39
6.1 Implications	41
6.2 Limitations and future studies	42
6.3 Conclusions	44
Bibliography	45
Appendix	••••
Image sleep disturbances video	•••
Image social competence video	•••
Original knowledge test (German)	•••
Translated knowledge test (English)	

# Riepilogo

**Obiettivo**. Questo studio indaga l'efficacia dell'utilizzo di video e testi come strumento psicoeducativo in persone sane e pazienti psichiatrici.

Background. Studi precedenti che hanno paragonato l'efficacia di video e testi in persone sane hanno riportato risultati contrastanti, alcuni in favore di video e altri in favore di testi. Video e testi vengono spesso utilizzati in interventi online per pazienti psichiatrici. In particolare, i video permettono di presentare contenuti psicoeducativi in modo più attrattivo e contrastare sia la bassa aderenza al trattamento, sia gli alti tassi di drop-out che caratterizzano questo tipo di interventi. Tuttavia, fino ad ora, nessuno studio ha indagato l'efficacia di video e testi come strumenti psicoeducativi in pazienti psichiatrici. Metodo. Sulla base dei risultati del Web Screening Questionnaire (WSQ), i partecipanti sono stati suddivisi in persone sane e pazienti psichiatrici. Per valutare l'apprendimento dei partecipanti è stato sviluppato un test di conoscenza ad hoc che consisteva in un test a scelta multipla con domande riguardo agli argomenti trattati. Inoltre, i partecipanti dovevano indicare per ogni domanda, quanto fossero sicuri su una scala da 1-100 della propria risposta. Tale strumento è stato utilizzato sia per valutare la conoscenza baseline (baseline-test), sia per valutare l'apprendimento dopo la presentazione del materiale psicoeducativo (post-test). Due sono gli argomenti che sono stati affrontanti nei video/testi: i disturbi del sonno e la competenza sociale. Dopo aver completato il WSQ e il baseline-test, i partecipanti sono stati randomizzati in uno dei seguenti gruppi: video vs. testo, testo vs. video, video vs. video, testo vs. testo, gruppo di controllo. Dopo la presentazione del materiale psicoeducativo, i partecipanti hanno completato il post-test.

**Risultati**. La conduzione di un'ANOVA a misure ripetute ha mostrato un aumento significativo della conoscenza (F=80.07, p<.001) e del grado di sicurezza con cui i partecipanti hanno risposto alle domande (F=55.34, p<.001) dal baseline-test al post-test, senza differenze significative tra gli strumenti psicoeducativi (video vs. testo) e tra persone sane e pazienti psichiatrici.

Tuttavia, sono state trovate differenze significative tra i gruppi (persone sane vs. pazienti psichiatrici) per le variabili genere (p=.033), titolo di studio (p=.002), carico cognitivo intrinseco (p=.035) e interesse per il tema disturbi del sonno (p<.001). La conduzione di un'ANCOVA a misure ripetute in cui sono state inserite come covariate questi fattori, non ha confermato i risultati, non mostrando un incremento significativo della conoscenza (F=1.94, p=.167) e del grado di sicurezza con cui i partecipanti hanno risposto alle domande (F=0.17, p=.682) dal baseline-test al post-test.

**Conclusioni**. I risultati suggeriscono che video e testi sono entrambi strumenti psicoeducativi efficaci, senza differenze significative tra i due e tra persone sane e pazienti psichiatrici. Tuttavia, vi è l'esigenza di una maggiore evidenza empirica per confermare questi risultati. Studi futuri su questo argomento, dovrebbero assicurarsi di controllare per differenze tra il gruppo di persone sane e pazienti psichiatrici.

### Abstract

**Objective**. The present study investigates the effectiveness of videos and texts as learning instruments by comparing them between healthy controls and psychiatric patients. **Background**. Previous studies that investigated the effectiveness of these learning instruments in healthy controls found contrasting results, with some in favor of texts and some in favor of videos being more effective. Videos and texts are often used in internet-based interventions for psychiatric patients. Videos permit to present psychoeducational content in a more appealing way and to counteract low adherence and high drop-out rates.

However, up until know, the effectiveness of videos and texts as learning instruments in psychiatric patients had not been studied.

**Methods**. Based on their results on the Web screening questionnaire (WSQ), participants were divided into the group of psychiatric patients or healthy controls. To evaluate the learning process of the participants, a multiple-choice test was designed ad hoc. This contained questions about the arguments of the videos/texts and every participant had to indicate on a scale 1-100, how confident he was with his answer. The present test served as baseline- and post-test. Every participant learned about two topics, sleep disturbances and social competence. After completing the WSQ and the baseline-test, the participants were randomized in one of the following groups: video vs. text, text vs. video, video vs. video, text vs. text, control group. After this, they completed again the post-test.

**Results**. A repeated measures ANOVA showed a significant increase of knowledge (F=80.07, p<.001) and confidence scores (F=55.34, p<.001) from baseline- to post-test, with no significant differences between learning instrument and between psychiatric patients and healthy controls. However, group differences (psychiatric patients vs.

healthy controls) were found for the variables gender (p=.033), education (p=.002), intrinsic cognitive load (p=.035) and interest for sleep disturbances (p<.001). A repeated measures ANCOVA with these variables as covariates, did confirm the previous results, showing no significant increase of knowledge (F=1.94, p=.167) and confidence scores (F=0.17, p=.682) from baseline- to post-test.

**Conclusions**. The findings of the current study suggest that videos and texts are both effective learning instruments with no difference between learning instrument and between psychiatric patients and healthy controls. However, there is the need of more evidence, to confirm these results. Feature studies that aim to bring more evidence regarding this research topic, should make sure to control for group differences between psychiatric patients and healthy controls.

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Videos and texts are often used as psychoeducational instruments for psychiatric patients, but are they really effective? This question is especially interesting, in the case of videos. In fact, videos are often used in internet-based interventions for psychiatric patients to present the content in a more appealing way (Bücker, Schnakenberg, et al., 2019; Bücker, Westermann, et al., 2019) and to address the problem of low adherence and high dropout rates of internet-based interventions (Melville et al., 2010; Wangberg et al., 2008). Moreover, it has been shown that internet-based interventions that included multimedia content (e.g. videos), showed significantly lower dropout rates than interventions that only included written text. However, up until know, there are no studies that investigated the effectiveness of videos and texts as learning instruments in psychiatric patients. However, there are some studies that investigated the effectiveness of both in healthy individuals. These found contrasting results, with some indicating that texts are more effective (Furnham & Gunter, 1987; Walma Van Der Molen & Van Der Voort, 2000) and some indicating that videos are more effective (Chi et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2020; Schuelper et al., 2019). Therefore, the present study represents the first investigation of texts-based and video-based learning in psychiatric patients. Additionally, the current study brings more evidence for the effectiveness of video- vs. text-based learning instruments in healthy individuals. Furthermore, it investigates if there are any differences between the two groups of healthy and psychiatric individuals.

## **Chapter 2: Theoretical background**

### 2.1 Learning theories

The conception of what learning means changed a lot through history. Back in 385 B.C.E, the Greek philosopher Plato, starting from the paradox "if a person knows something, she doesn't need to question it, and if a person does not know something, she can't question it" (Oxford, 1922), proposed the theory of recollection, which states that knowledge is innate (Oxford, 1922). Plato described learning as a passive process where knowledge is already present at birth into our soul. All information learned by a person is a recollection of something that the soul already learned (Oxford, 1922). This theory automatically elicits the question: how did our soul gain the knowledge in the first place? In contrast to Plato, in 1690 Locke proposed the blank slate theory (Locke, 1690). He stated that humans are born into the world with no innate knowledge. In contrary, according to Locke the human mind at birth is a sort of "blank slate" ready to be influenced by the environment (Locke, 1690). Locke thought that experience is made through sensation, which informs us about things and processes in the external world, and reflection, which tells us about the operations of our own minds (Locke, 1690). These two theories are classical conceptions of knowledge, which can still help better understand learning today. In the early 1900s, a specific branch of psychology was born, that started to study with a scientific approach how humans learn. This new branch is called educational psychology. Over the years, educational psychology has studied human learning with different approaches. The first psychological approach, which also gave birth to educational psychology, was behaviorism. The term "behaviorism" was coined in 1913 by John Watson, who stated that behaviorism is a purely objective branch of natural science and has the goal to predict and control behavior (Watson, 1913). From a behaviorist point of view, learning is considered as the acquisition of new behavior through conditioning or social learning (Bandura, 1971; Pavlov, 1903; Skinner, 1971).

At the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, based on the observation that we often experience things that are not a part of our simple sensations, the gestalt psychology approach was born. This movement, starting from the statement "the whole is more than the sum of its parts", emphasized the need to study the human mind as a whole (Yount, 1996). In support of their theory, gestalt psychologists provided demonstrations that showed how we organize our sensations into perceptions. For example, if we draw an incomplete circle on a piece of paper, we tend to perceive it as complete (Brennan & Houde, 2017). These gestalt principles are not restricted to perception. In fact, gestalt psychologists, argued that we often learn not the literal things in front of us, but the relations between them (Boeree, 2000).

The cognitive approach criticized behaviorists for not considering the fact that the way people think impacts their behavior. Cognitivists argued that cognition plays an important role in learning and therefore it must be included in its study (Lilienfeld et al., 2010). With the advent of memory theories like the Atkinson-Shiffrin memory model (Atkinson & Shiffrin, 1968) and the Baddeley's working memory model (Baddeley & Hitch, 2009) the cognitive approach gained more popularity. Research started focusing more on information processing essentially comparing human thinking to a computer that processes information (Çeliköz et al., 2019). Learning research started to investigate how information is received, how it is processed, how it is organized into already existing schemas and how information is retrieved upon recall (Ertmer & Newby, 2013).

In today's cognitive psychology, cognitive load is a central research topic. The cognitive load theory is based on the assumption that the working memory is limited in capacity and duration and that information will only be stored in long term memory after being processed by the working memory (Sweller, 2011). This theory postulates that, anything that consumes the capacity of the working memory is called cognitive load (Sweller, 2011). According to this theory, an overload of the working memory would lead to the fact that not all information can be processed correctly and has a negative impact on the learning process (Sweller, 2011).

Recently, the multimedia learning theory has been proposed, which tries to explain how we learn from multimedia material (Mayer, 2005). Mayer defines multimedia as presenting both words (such as spoken text or printed text) and pictures (such as illustrations, photos, animation, or video). The theory is based on three assumptions (Mayer, 2005). The dual-channel assumption, which postulates that humans possess separate channels for processing visual and auditory information (Baddeley & Hitch, 1974; Paivio, 1986). The limited capacity assumption, which postulates that humans are limited in the amount of information that can be processed in each channel at one time (Baddeley & Hitch, 1974; Miller, 1956). The active processing assumption, which postulates that humans engage in learning by attending to relevant incoming information, organizing selected information into coherent mental representations, and integrating mental representations with other knowledge (Mayer et al., 1999). According to this theory, when we study from multimedia material, information is processed by the auditory channel, which processes information that is heard, and by the visual channel, which processes information that is seen. Because the processing capacity in memory is limited, words and images are selected and organized in verbal and pictorial models in the working memory. These are then integrated together with prior knowledge in the longterm memory. Supporters of this theory argue that people learn more deeply from words and pictures than from words alone, which is referred as the multimedia principle (Mayer, 2005). This is because words and pictures are qualitatively different and thus can complement one another. Words can present better representations that are more abstract and require more effort to translate and pictures can present better more intuitive and natural representations (Mayer, 2005).

#### 2.2 Video-based learning

Video-based learning (VBL) is defined as the knowledge or skills acquired through a video (Sablić et al., 2021). The U.S. Army was the first institution that, back in the year 1950, used television for military training (Kanner, 1958). Back then, these installations utilized instruments such as film chains and kinescope equipment (Kanner, 1958). The studies that have been conducted on these installations have shown that television instructions are at least as effective as regular instruction given by an instructor (Kanner, 1954). Furthermore, the use of television has shown advantages, such as: enrichment of the information available to a regular classroom, for example when only one piece of equipment is available, television can be used to familiarize large groups of trainees with the equipment; close-up advantages of the television camera, by permitting trainees to see small features of some equipment; economic advantages, since more classes can learn simultaneously by one recorded instructor (Kanner, 1958).

In 1968 a study was conducted on the effectiveness of educational television in an elementary school (Ledford, 1968). Educational television programs were incorporated as a regular part of the curriculum from the first to sixth grade. Teachers described the

learning performance of the students as average and noted a marked decrease in discipline problems due to an increased motivation of the students to learn. In 1975 a review on the effectiveness of learning from television was published, which concluded that children and adults learn a lot from instructional television (Chu & Schramm, 1975).

In the 1980s, due to the development of VHS (Video Home System), film material became much more accessible to everyone and thus more easily useable in classrooms (Sablić et al., 2021). Around the year 2000, with the introduction of internet in wider society and the development of new technologies (e.g. notebooks, smartphones), the integration of videos into education was even more facilitated (Sablić et al., 2021). This had a big impact on education, introducing for example the e-learning approach (Kolekar et al., 2018) or new instruments like lecture capture technologies (Sloan & Lewis, 2014). The e-learning approach is a new teaching method based on the use of electronic media and devices (Sangrà et al., 2012). Lecture capture technologies are platforms that capture everything that happens during a class session (video, audio, slides, virtual whiteboard, etc.) (Sloan & Lewis, 2014). One study showed that students that had access to lecture capture technologies showed an increased performance on exams (Sloan & Lewis, 2014). Consequently, a lot of research on the use of videos in education has been done, that showed a positive effect of these instruments on learning performance. Giannakos and colleagues in the year 2014 found that videos make it possible to overcome the practical limitations of the real world (Giannakos et al., 2014). For example, students can watch on one video more recordings (e.g. of a lecture, of the instructor, the projected slides and the information presented by the instructor via computer) to build a multi video object (Giannakos et al., 2014). In other words, one advantage of videos is that they can be used to present the information in different types of forms and also present more information

at one time. One study showed that adding interactive learning-videos, where questions were displayed to the participants while they were watching the video, to traditional learning methods showed a positive impact of this instrument on learning performance. (Wachtler et al., 2016). In fact, students that learned from these videos, showed a higher performance at a test, than students than only used traditional teaching methods. Another study showed that videos are a particularly interesting learning instrument for students who prefer to learn by watching, so called visual learners, and who learn best by watching short-form videos rather than just listening or reading instructional materials (Korkut et al., 2015). Zhang and colleagues found that interactive videos can enhance learning performance of students and increase their satisfaction (Zhang et al., 2006). Also Liao and colleagues found that instructional videos had a positive effect on learning achievement (Liao et al., 2019). Furthermore, the results of this study showed that instructional videos combined with collaborative learning have a positive effect on students' intrinsic motivation.

It is widely accepted that students motivation is a key element in the learning process (Pintrich, 1999). Various studies showed positive effects of videos on students' motivation (Bravo et al., 2011; Laksmi et al., 2021). One of these studies showed that the use of videos has a positive effect on students' perception regarding the enhancement of their learning motivation (Bravo et al., 2011). The aim of this project was to investigate the positive and negative effects of low-cost educational videos in the learning process. These effects were examined through qualitative instruments like semi-structured interviews or questionnaires that included open questions, which brings new type of support as many prior studies used quantitative instruments. The results showed that

and have a positive effect on students' motivation. In another study, videos were used as an intervention in a class where students showed low learning motivation (Syaparuddin & Elihami, 2020). In this case, the teachers subjectively observed the students showing low learning motivation (students arriving late, not doing assignments, not paying attention to the lesson, being less active), motivation was assessed through a questionnaire. The results from the questionnaire showed that students learning motivation was low. After the use of videos as a learning innovation, students showed a significant increase in learning motivation in the questionnaire. Furthermore, also other studies showed a positive effect of videos on students motivation (Barut Tugtekin & Dursun, 2021; Choi & Johnson, 2005; Ramsay et al., 2012).

A review article published in 2021 which analyzed a vast number of articles that studied video-based learning with a scientific approach, concluded that videos are becoming a very powerful learning media that captures and distributes information while also providing a stimulating learning environment (Sablić et al., 2021). The authors stated that video-based learning increases students' satisfaction and that videos can attract students' attention, motivate them, and thus increase their in-class participation.

While there are numerous studies on the effectiveness of videos as a learning instrument, relatively little is reported on the comparison between videos-based learning and textbased learning. Overall, there seem to be contrasting results in literature. One study from 1985 found that memory performance in students was best when the content was presented in print compared to video (Furnham & Gunter, 1987). Also Walma Van der Molen and Van der Voort found an overall lower knowledge acquisition from videos than from texts (Walma Van Der Molen & Van Der Voort, 2000). However, in these two studies the videos were presented in broadcast mode in which it is not possible for the viewer to control the video's flow of information. In contrast, in a study where participants were given the opportunity to control the flow of information by a start/stop, a forward and a rewind button, students that learned through videos showed higher learning performances than students that learned through texts (Merkt et al., 2011). This suggests that when you compare text-based learning with video-based learning, it seems to be crucial to give the participants in the video-based learning condition to control the flow of information, just as the participants in the text-based learning condition. As this study, there are also other studies that showed a higher learning performance in participants that learned from videos compared to participants that learned from texts (Chi et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2020; Schuelper et al., 2019).

So far, we discussed that video-based learning has shown to be effective and that it can have some advantages. However, this should not be taken to mean that video-based learning should substitute other traditional teaching methods. In fact, students that learned from videos instead of classical lectures, reported as disadvantages the loss of contact with the lecturer, the loss of effective discussions and no contact with the peers (Alshammari, 2019). Therefore, videos should be considered more as an upcoming learning instrument, that can be used effectively in different contexts. Specifically in an educational context, it should be used as an extra, next to the other classical teaching methods.

#### 2.3 Cognitive load

The cognitive load theory is a theoretical model that provides a framework for the investigation of cognitive processes, by considering the structure of information and the cognitive architecture that allows the learner to process that information (Paas et al.,

2003). The first to describe the cognitive load concept was Sweller back in 1988 (Sweller, 1988). He was interested in testing if the practice on a large number of conventional problems is the best way of gaining problem-solving skills. He found that conventional problem-solving requires a relatively large amount of cognitive process capacity which is consequently unavailable for the learning process. In contrast to what was sustained at the time, he concluded that problem-solving is an ineffective learning device (Sweller, 1988). Since then, the cognitive load theory has been further developed and today it has become a very influential theory in educational psychology (Paas et al., 2010).

The cognitive load theory is based on a model of our memory in which the information is elaborated by the working memory before it is stored in the long-term memory (Aktinson & Shiffrin, 1968; Baddeley & Hitch, 1974; Ericsson & Kintsch, 1995). The idea is that the working memory is responsible for the processing and linking of the information (Dosher, 2003). According to Miller our working memory has limited capacity (Miller, 1956). Apart from individual differences ("plus or minus 2), approximately seven isolated bits of information can be stored simultaneously in the working memory (Miller, 1956). Furthermore, information can be stored in the working memory for a maximum of 60 seconds (Dosher, 2003). On the other hand, the long-term memory has a very long storage period and can store a very large amount of information (Ericsson & Kintsch, 1995; Sweller, 2005). Basing on the assumption that the working memory is limited in its capacity, the cognitive load theory postulates that anything that consumes part of this limited capacity is defined cognitive load (Sweller, 1988). An overload of the working memory leads to the fact that not all information can be processed, and this has a negative effect on the learning process (Sweller, 1988; Sweller et al., 1990).

The cognitive load theory distinguishes three different types of cognitive load: intrinsic load, extraneous load and germane load (Paas & Van Merriënboer, 1994; Sweller, 1994). In contrary to intrinsic and extraneous load, germane load was added to the cognitive load framework based on theoretical considerations rather than on specific empirical results (Kalyuga, 2011). In fact, there are hardly any studies that attempt to provide empirical evidence of germane load, which has led to an increased critic of this concept (Kalyuga, 2011; Sweller, 2010). Because of this, we will not further discuss this type of cognitive load. Intrinsic load represents that part of cognitive load that depends from the complexity of the material that we intend to learn (Sweller, 1994). Sweller suggests that this complexity depends on what he defines element interactivity, which is the number of interacting elements that must be acquired simultaneously in order to learn a particular task or procedure (Sweller, 1994). Extraneous cognitive load represents that part of cognitive load, that depends on how the material is presented to the learner (Sweller, 1994). For example, adding a series of statements and descriptions to an already selfexplanatory diagram can increase extraneous cognitive load and unnecessarily force students to process the text, having rather negative than positive effects (Chandler & Sweller, 1991).

There are two main arguments proposed by research in favor of the hypothesis of videobased learning being more cognitive demanding than text-based learning. One is the socalled transient information effect described by Leahy and Sweller (Leahy & Sweller, 2011). When transforming written text into spoken information we transform relatively permanent information into transient information. Given the capacity and duration limits of the working memory, the use of transient information may cause excessive working memory load (Leahy & Sweller, 2011). In fact, research has shown that permanent information outperformed transient information in terms of learning outcomes (Castro-Alonso et al., 2018). Another argument in favor of video-based learning being more cognitive demanding than text-based learning is the split-attention principle (Ayres & Sweller, 2005). This principle states that when we present different sources of information (e.g. visual and auditive) to a learner, attention must be split between these multiple sources (Ayres & Sweller, 2005). Consequently, these sources have to be mentally integrated, which increase extraneous load (Ayres & Sweller, 2005).

To the best of our knowledge, there are not many studies that compared cognitive load caused by video-based learning with cognitive load caused by text-based learning. However, those studies that investigated this argument did not find significant differences between the two (Hefter & Berthold, 2020; Hoogerheide et al., 2014; Kramer et al., 2020). Moreover, one study even found that individuals who prefer to acquire new information in visual format, so-called visual learners, experienced a lower cognitive load when they learned from a video-lecture with synchronized slides compared to when they learned from just the audio of the lectures with synchronized slides. Individuals who preferred to acquire new information in verbal format showed the opposite pattern (Homer et al., 2008).

### 2.4 Video-based learning in individuals with mental disorders

As described in the paragraph 2.2, there is evidence in literature showing that videos can be used effectively as a learning tool in healthy individuals. However, to the best of our knowledge, there are no studies to date directly investigating the effectiveness of videobased learning in individuals with mental disorders. Videos are often used as learning instruments in internet-based interventions for individuals with mental disorders (Braun

et al., 2021; Rachamim et al., 2021; Bücker, Schnakenberg, et al., 2019; Miegel et al., 2019). For example, two of these studies were conducted on individuals with depressive symptoms (Braun et al., 2021; Bücker, Schnakenberg, et al., 2019). In these cases, the internet-based interventions consisted in trainings targeting depressive symptoms, insomnia, stress, sleep disturbances, social competence and alcohol consumption divided in different modules. Every module was conceptualized multi-modal, with illustrations, audio, and video clips which contained psychoeducational information. The results showed a significant reduction of depressive symptoms in the people who underwent the intervention. In another study, an internet-based intervention for tics was conducted on different psychiatric patients, like individuals with attention deficit hyperactivity (ADHD), with obsessive compulsive OCD and individuals with tic disorder (TD) (Rachamim et al., 2021). Also this intervention was divided in modules delivering psychoeducational information and trainings regarding tics, stress management skills and competing responses. The intervention has shown to be effective, with a significant improvement in tic measures found in all groups. Another study was conducted on pain patients with depressive symptoms (Miegel et al., 2019). In this case, the internet-based intervention consisted in different modules, which provided psychoeducation on the development of depression, emotional and physical symptoms, self-concept and social relationships, relaxation techniques, and exercises to strengthen cognitive skills and prevent relapse. Also many of these modules were delivered in video format and the intervention has shown to be effective, with a reduction of depressive and pain symptoms. Furthermore, various meta-analyses have shown the effectiveness of internet-based interventions for people with mental disorders (Guo et al., 2021; Reins et al., 2020; Taylor et al., 2021).

One of the reasons why videos are often used in internet-based interventions for psychiatric patients is to present the content in an appealing way (Bücker, Schnakenberg, et al., 2019; Bücker, Westermann, et al., 2019) and in turn address low adherence and high dropout rates in Internet-based interventions (Melville et al., 2010; Wangberg et al., 2008) As reported in paragraph 2.2, numerous studies have shown that videos can have a positive effect on learning motivation (Bravo et al., 2011; Laksmi et al., 2021; Ledford, 1968; Liao et al., 2019). Thus, presenting psycho-educative information in an appealing way, might increase treatment motivation and decrease dropout rates. In fact, a study that compared an interactive internet-based intervention that included diverse multimedia content (e.g., video, graphics, text) with an identical static internet-based intervention, that only included written text, showed significantly lower dropout rates for the interactive intervention (Linardon et al., 2021). However, there is still the need of more evidence to test these hypotheses.

## **Chapter 3: Research questions and hypotheses**

Two were the research question of this study. Research question 1: "Are videos and texts effective learning instruments?". Research question 2: "Is there any difference in the effectiveness of videos and texts in psychiatric patients and healthy controls?".

Overall, 3 hypotheses were formulated. As reported in paragraph 2.2, previous studies reporting the effectiveness of both, video- and text-based learning have shown that both these learning instruments can be effective. Therefore, regarding research question 1, it was hypothesized that videos and texts will be an effective learning instrument in both groups, with a significant increase of knowledge and confidence scores of the overall sample (Hypothesis 1).

Up until now, research on healthy controls has shown contrasting results regarding the investigation of videos or texts being a more effective learning instrument. There are studies in favor of texts being more effective (Furnham & Gunter, 1987; Walma Van Der Molen & Van Der Voort, 2000) and studies in favor of videos being more effective (Chi et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2020; Merkt et al., 2011; Schuelper et al., 2019). As reported in paragraph 2.2, in the studies in favor of texts being more effective than videos, the videos were presented in broadcast mode, in which it is not possible for the viewer to control the video's flow of information. In the present study, it was made sure that participants can pause and rewind the videos. This way, participants could re-watch part of the video if they wanted, just as they can re-read part of a text. Considering this aspect, we hypothesized that healthy controls will show significantly higher increase in knowledge and confidence scores when they learn from a video compared to when they learn from a text (Hypothesis 2). Up until know, there are no studies in literature investigating how

psychiatric patients learn from videos and from texts. Thus, there is no reason to assume that it will be different from the learning process of healthy controls. Therefore, we hypnotize that, as healthy controls, psychiatric patients will learn better from videos than from texts, showing significantly higher knowledge and confidence scores when they learn from a video compared to when they learn from a text (Hypothesis 3).

## **Chapter 4: Methods**

### 4.1 Aim of the study

The aim of the present study is to investigate the effectiveness of video-based compared to text-based learning in individuals with mental disorders and healthy participants.

### 4.2 Design

To examine if videos or texts are a more effective learning instrument, two videos and two texts were created. Each text was the transcription of the audio of the video, so that the same knowledge was presented to the viewer/reader. One video and one text were about "sleep disorders" and the other video and text were about "social competence". The experimental conditions were the following:

- Group 1: sleep disorders video vs. social competence text; (balance)
- Group 2: sleep disorders text vs. social competence video; (balance)
- Group 3: sleep disorders video vs. social competence video; (balance)

• Group 4: sleep disorders text vs. social competence text; (balance)

To be able to exclude any order effect in the results, every group was balanced for the presentation order of the content of the videos and texts. The control group watched a video that contained information about a smartphone application called COGITO. The study was entirely web-based and participants received access to the survey through a link posted on Facebook groups and flyers that contained a QR code distributed in different psychiatric awards.

At the end of the study, every subject received access to the COGITO app and a mindfulness manual as compensation. These contain exercises that people with and without mental disorders can do, to increase their psychological wellbeing. Both, the COGITO app and the Manual, were developed by the neuropsychological research group of the University Clinic Hamburg-Eppendorf.

The study was approved by the local psychological ethics committee of the Center for Psychosocial Medicine of the University Medical Clinic Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany (approval number: LPEK-0399) and followed the Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects.

### 4.3 Participants

Every individual between 18 and 75 years old, that had an internet connection, was a German native speaker and had not suicidal tendencies could participate to this study. To evaluate if a participant had suicidal tendencies, the Web Screening Questionnaire was used (Q15  $\geq$  2). A total of 376 participants participated to this study. In total, 16 participants had to be excluded from the analyses (Figure 1). Since there has been little research on this topic, an a priori sample size estimate was not possible. Considering that this study has a 2x2 factorial design, we decided to recruit approximately 30 individuals for each group.

Figure 1: CONSORT diagram.



### 4.4 Materials

Using the software "Videoscribe" two whiteboard animation videos were created:

**sleep disorders video.** The "sleep disorder" video contained general information about sleep disorders, including what factors could generate a sleep disorder and what factors could contribute to its permanence even when the generating factor is not present anymore. Furthermore, the video explains the most common consequences of sleep deprivation The length of the video was 2 minutes and 14 seconds. The resolution was 1080 (Full HD) and 15 fps.

**social competence video.** This "social competence" video contained general information about social competence explaining how social abilities play a major role in its development and which are other factors that its influenced by. In addition to

"Videoscribe" the software "Final Cut Pro X" was used. The length of the video was 3 minutes and 57 seconds with a resolution of 1080 (Full HD) and 24 fps.

Both videos contained simple whiteboard animation drawings (e.g. characters, schemas or other illustrations), written text, and audios. The audio of the videos was created by a professional voice actor. Both videos were originally developed as psychoeducational instruments in online-interventions for people with mental disorders.

The two texts were the transcription of the audio of the two videos. Two minor changes were done in the words contained by the texts compared to those contained in the audio track:

**sleep disorders text.** In the sleep disorders video at the beginning, it was stated "In this video". This part was changed in the text to "In this text".

**social competence text.** In the social competence video at the beginning, it was stated "In the following units" because the video was developed for an online-intervention platform and is one part of more units of an intervention. This part was changed to "In the following text".

Apart from these two minor changes, the texts contained the exact same words as the audio track. This way, we made sure that the exact same information was presented in the texts as in the videos. All media presented in the study were in German.

### 4.5 Procedure

Participants were recruited through posts in Facebook groups for people with mental disorders and Facebook groups created specifically to find participants for online-studies. The post contained the link with which participants could access directly to the survey.

Data were collected using the online platform Qualtrics. After providing informed consent, the participants had to respond to questions that collected their sociodemographics (gender, age, education) and other information (psychiatric diagnosis and concentration problems). After that, participants were asked to fill out the two questionnaires which assessed their psychiatric symptoms (WSQ and SCL-27). Then, learning instrument preference was assessed. Following this assessment, participants were asked to complete the knowledge test, which evaluated their knowledge baseline before the presentation of the learning material. At this point, participants were randomly assigned by the Qualtrics survey software to one of the 4 experimental groups (video vs. text, text vs. video, video vs. video, text vs. text) or the control group. The distribution was balanced between all groups (allocation 1:1:1:1). After the presentation of every video and/or text, the intrinsic and extrinsic cognitive load was assessed using the Pass rating scale and the question that asked how complex the topic was for the participant. At this point, participants were asked again to complete the knowledge test. At the end, the respective interest in the two topics (sleep disorders vs. social competence) was assessed. Figure 2 reports the average time needed from the participants to complete the different parts of the survey.





### 4.6 Measures

#### Primary outcomes.

*Knowledge acquisition*. The mean total score of the knowledge test served as the primary outcome. To assess knowledge acquisition the participants completed the same knowledge test before the presentation of videos and/or texts and after the presentation of videos and/or texts. The test consists of 30 multiple-choice questions (true, false), 15 for the topic "sleep disorders" and 15 for the topic "social competence". After each question, participants were asked how sure they were with their answer on a scale from 0-100%. This scale measured difference in confidence before and after watching/reading the videos/texts.

#### Secondary outcomes.

*Cognitive load*. Research suggests that it is preferable to measure mental effort after each task instead of a single measure at the end of a series of tasks (van Gog et al., 2012). Hence, cognitive load was administered directly after the presentation of the video/text.

*Extrinsic cognitive load*. Extrinsic cognitive load was measured with the one item 9-point rating scale on the subjective invested mental effort developed by Paas (Paas, 1992). This scale is widely used in multimedia learning research to assess cognitive load (Chen et al., 2021; Hefter & Berthold, 2020; Le et al., 2018). *Intrinsic cognitive load*. Intrinsic cognitive load was measured by asking participants, on a scale from 1-100, how complex they found the text/video.

Mental disorders. Two measures were used to assess mental disorders.

*The Web Screening Questionnaire (WSQ)*. The WSQ is a 15 item self-report screening instrument for depressive disorder, GAD, panic disorder with or without agoraphobia, social phobia, specific phobia, OCD, PTSD, agoraphobia, suicidality and alcohol abuse or dependence (Donker et al., 2009).

*Symptom-Checklist-27 (SCL-27).* The (SCL-27) (Hardt et al., 2004) is a shortform of the reliable and widely used Symptom-Checklist-90 (Derogatis & Cleary, 1977). The SCL-27 is a screening instrument for psychiatric symptoms which contains 6 subscales: depressive, dysthymic, vegetative, agoraphobic, sociophobic symptoms and symptoms of mistrust (Hardt et al., 2004). The number of items for each subscale varies between four and six. *Learning instrument preference.* Learning instrument preference was assessed through the following multiple-choice questions: "How often do you use videos/texts to learn?" *(always, in most cases, in half of the cases, in rare cases, never)*, "Do you prefer to learn from videos or texts?" *(from a video, from a text, from both the same, depends on the situation)*.

*Interest in content.* The interest about the content of the video/text was assessed through the question: "Please rate on a scale going from 0 (no interest) to 100 (very strong interest), your interest for the topics sleep disorders and social competence". Participants were also asked if they are affected by sleep disorders and how high, on a scale from 0-100, they would rate their social competence, as these aspects could also play a role in the rate of their interest.

#### 4.7 Statistical Analyses

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics 28. A repeated measures ANOVA for the dependent variables knowledge and confidence was performed. Time (baseline and post) served as within subject variable and topic (sleep disorders first vs. social competence first), first displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), second displayed learning instrument (video vs. text) and group (psychiatric patients vs. healthy controls) served as between-subjects variables. As group allocation was not randomized, group differences (psychiatric patients vs. healthy controls) for sociodemographic variables (gender, age, education) and variables that could have an effect on knowledge and confidence scores (learning instrument preference, interest for the topic, cognitive load) were tested by means of *t*-tests for continuous variables and chi-square-tests for nominal variables. To

control for group differences between psychiatric patients and healthy controls, analyses were conducted again by means of repeated measures ANCOVAs for knowledge and confidence. Effect sizes were calculated using  $\eta^2_{partial}$ , whereby  $\eta^2_{partial} \approx 0.01$  denotes a small,  $\eta^2_{partial} \approx 0.06$  denotes a moderate and  $\eta^2_{partial} \approx 0.14$  denotes a large effect size (Kinnear & Gray, 2009).
# Chapter 5: Data analysis and results

### **5.1 Group allocation**

To evaluate if a participant was assigned to the healthy controls or psychiatric patients' group, we used the Web Screening Questionnaire (WSQ). Because of the low specificity of this instrument (specificity 0.44 to 0.80; Donker et al., 2009), only participants, who fulfilled screening criteria for at least two diagnoses of the WSQ, were assigned to the psychiatric patients group. Participants who fulfilled screening criteria for less than two diagnoses were categorized as healthy controls.

## 5.2 Participants characteristics

Demographics, WSQ scores, as well as knowledge and confidence scores of healthy controls and psychiatric patients at baseline are presented in Table 1. Because there were 6 cells with less than 5 observations violating criteria for conducting a chi-square-tests, education was grouped in higher (university graduation, high school graduation) and lower (secondary school and vocational diploma). According to the SCL-27, 54 psychiatric patients and 22 healthy controls showed scores above the cut-off for depressive symptoms; 65 psychiatric patients and 34 healthy controls showed scores above the cut-off for dysthymia symptoms; 41 psychiatric patients and 15 healthy controls showed scores above the cut-off for vegetative symptoms; 21 psychiatric patients and 1 healthy controls showed scores above the cut-off for agoraphobic symptoms; 52 psychiatric patients and 23 healthy controls showed scores above the cut-off for social phobia symptoms; 50 psychiatric patients and 21 healthy controls showed scores above

the cut-off for mistrust symptoms. Significant differences between psychiatric patients and healthy controls were found for all symptom categories (all p<.001).

#### Table 1

Group differences in sociodemographic characteristics, WSQ scores as well as knowledge test scores at baseline. Means and standard deviations (in brackets) or absolute numbers and percentages (in brackets).

Variable	Full sample	Healthy	Psychiatric	Statistics			
	( <i>N</i> = 152)	controls	patients				
		( <i>n</i> = 83)	( <i>n</i> = 69)				
Sociodemographic variables							
Age in years	33.68 (12.59)	32.34 (12.65)	35.68 (12.36)	t(150) = -1.64, p = .640			
Gender							
Male	39 (25.7%)	27 (32.5%)	12 (17.4%)	χ <sup>2</sup> (1)=4.5, <i>p</i> =.033			
Female	113 (74.3%)	56 (67.5%)	57 (82.6%)				
Education							
Higher	119 (78.3%)	73 (88%)	46 (66.7%)	$\chi^2(1)=10, p=.002$			
Lower	33 (21.7%)	10 (12%)	23 (33.3%)				
Psychopathology screening (WSQ)							
Depression	19 (6%)	0	19 (6.9%)	$\chi^2(1, N=152)=26.1, p<.001$			
GAD	39 (12.4%)	6 (15%)	33 (12%)	χ <sup>2</sup> (1, N=152)=32.6, <i>p</i> <.001			
Panic disorder	33 (10.4%)	3 (7,5%)	30 (10.8%)	χ <sup>2</sup> (1, N=152)=35.2, <i>p</i> <.001			
Panic disorder and	9 (2.9%)	0	9 (3.2%)	$\chi^2(1, N=152)=11.5, p<.001$			
agoraphobia							
Agoraphobia	13 (4.1%)	0	13 (4.7%)	$\chi^2(1, N=152)=17.1, p<.001$			
Specific phobia	59 (18.7)	10 (25%)	49 (17.8%)	$\chi^2(1, N=152)=55.2, p<.001$			
Social phobia	49 (15.5%)	9 (22.5%)	40 (14.5%)	$\chi^2(1, N=152)=38.3, p<.001$			
PTSD	55 (17.4%)	9 (22.5%)	46 (16.7%)	χ <sup>2</sup> (1, N=152)=50.8, <i>p</i> <.001			

OCD	33 (10.4%)	3 (7.5%)	30 (10.9%)	$\chi^2(1, N=152)=35.2, p<.001$
Alcohol abuse	7 (2.2%)	0	7 (2.5%)	$\chi^2(1, N=152)=8.8, p<.003$
Knowledge Test				
Knowledge	18.62 (2.64)	18.81 (2.85)	18.39 (2.37)	<i>t</i> (150)=0.97, <i>p</i> =.333
Confidence	70.75 (12.03)	69.66 (12.24)	72.06 (11.71)	<i>t</i> (150)=-1.23, <i>p</i> =.778

*Notes.* WSQ: Web Screening Questionnaire. GAD: Generalized anxiety disorder. PTSD: Post-traumatic stress disorder. OCD: Obsessive-compulsive disorder.

Group comparisons for learning instrument preference, interest for the topic and cognitive load (extraneous and intrinsic load) for the two learning instruments showed following results. Psychiatric patients showed significantly higher intrinsic load for videos (M=44.67, SD=25.71) than healthy controls (M=34.97, SD=20.43), t(101)=-2.13, p=.035. Psychiatric patients showed significantly higher interest for sleep disturbances (M=72.75, SD=25.72) than healthy controls (M=57.39, SD=26.98), t(150)=-3.57, p<.001. All remaining comparisons were not significant (all p>.05).

## 5.3 Repeated measures ANOVA

Exploratory data analyses revealed that the dependent variables (knowledge and confidence) were not normally distributed for some levels of the independent variables (topic, first displayed learning instrument, second displayed learning instrument and group; Shapiro-Wilk test: p<.05). However, there is evidence in the literature that ANOVA is robust to a violation of the normal distribution (Blanca et al., 2017; Harwell et al., 1992; Lix et al., 1996; Schmider et al., 2010), which is why we proceeded with the analyses. One participant was excluded from further analysis due to extreme values. The standard assumptions for sphericity were met for all analyses.

Repeated measures ANOVA with knowledge as dependent variable showed a significant increase of knowledge score from baseline to post-test with a large effect size F(1, 131)=80.07, p<.001,  $\eta^2_{\text{partial}} = 0.38$ . Figure 3 shows the estimated marginal means of the baseline- and post-scores.



*Figure 3*: Changes in knowledge from baseline to post test.

No significant effects of first displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), second displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), topic (sleep disorder first vs. social competence first) or group (healthy controls vs. psychiatric patients) were found (all p>.1). No significant increase of knowledge score from baseline to post-test was found for the control group (p=.730).

A repeated measures ANOVA with confidence as dependent variable showed a significant increase of confidence from baseline to post-test with a large effect size F(1, 131)=55.34, p<.001,  $\eta^2_{partial} = 0.3$ . Figure 4 shows the estimated marginal means of the baseline- and post-confidence scores.





No significant effects of first displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), second displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), topic (sleep disorder first vs. social competence first) or group (healthy controls vs. psychiatric patients) were found (all p>.6). No significant increase of confidence from baseline to post-test was found for the control group (p=.518).

## **5.4 Repeated measures ANCOVA**

Healthy controls and psychiatric patients significantly differed regarding gender  $\chi^2(1)=4.5$ , p=.033, education  $\chi^2(1)=10$ , p=.002, interest for sleep disturbances t(150)=-3.57, p<.001, and intrinsic load for videos t(101)=-2.13, p=.035 (see chapter 5.2). When gender, education, interest for sleep disturbances and intrinsic load for videos were included into the analysis as covariates, no significant increase of knowledge score from baseline to post-test was found F(1, 94)=1.94, p=.167. Again, no significant effects of

first displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), second displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), topic (sleep disorder first vs. social competence first) or group (healthy controls vs. psychiatric patients) were found (all p>.4).

Also for confidence, the inclusion of gender, education, interest for sleep disturbances and intrinsic load for video into the analyses as covariates resulted in no significant increase of confidence from baseline to post-test F(1, 94)=0.17, p=.682. No significant effects of first displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), second displayed learning instrument (video vs. text), topic (sleep disorder first vs. social competence first) or group (healthy controls vs. psychiatric patients) were found (all p>.2).

# **Chapter 6: Discussion**

The present study investigated if videos and texts are equally effective learning instruments and whether they differ in their effectiveness in psychiatric patients compared to healthy controls. In a first analysis, both groups showed a significant increase of knowledge and confidence scores from baseline to post-test with no significant differences between the two learning instruments. These findings suggest that videos and texts are equally effective learning instruments for both healthy controls and psychiatric patients. However, groups differed on the baseline variables gender, education, intrinsic load for video, and interest for sleep disturbances. To control if these group differences had an impact on the learning outcome, a repeated measures ANCOVA with these variables as covariates was conducted. These analyses did not confirm the previous results showing no significant increase of knowledge and confidence scores from baseline to post-test. In the following, the findings of the present study are discussed with regard to the hypotheses formulated in chapter 3.

The first hypothesis (Hypothesis 1) was concerned with the effectiveness of the videos and texts as learning instruments in both groups stating that both learning instruments are expected to be effective. In a first stage, the analyses confirmed this hypothesis. However, when the results were corrected for those variables which showed group differences the findings were not confirmed. Thus, the results do not completely support the first hypothesis. Particularly, videos and texts may be an effective learning instrument, however, other variables like gender, education, cognitive load and interest for the topic that the individual learns, may impact their effectiveness. Up until now, the studies that compared video-based learning with text-based learning in healthy controls showed contrasting results. Some of them were in favor of texts being more effective (Furnham & Gunter, 1987; Walma Van Der Molen & Van Der Voort, 2000) some in favor of videos (Chi et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2020; Merkt et al., 2011; Schuelper et al., 2019). A relevant factor explaining these contrasting results may be whether videos were presented in broadcast mode or not. The studies that found texts to be more effective often used broadcast mode in video presentation, which does not give participants the possibility to control the flow of information. Since participants had this option in the present study, it was hypothesized that both healthy controls (Hypothesis 2) and psychiatric patients (Hypothesis 3) will learn better from videos than from texts. The findings of the present study do not support these two hypotheses. In fact, videos and texts have been found to be equally effective in both groups at a first analysis but further analyses controlling for relevant group differences did not confirm these results. In particular, psychiatric patients showed higher interest for the topic sleep disturbances, higher intrinsic load by videos and lower education than healthy controls. Furthermore, the psychiatric patient's group was constituted of significantly more females than the healthy controls group. First, the higher interest for psychiatric patients in sleep disturbances seems plausible, given the matter that there is a lot of evidence showing that these individuals often experience disturbed sleep (Cohrs, 2008; Franzen & Buysse, 2008; Freeman et al., 2020). Therefore, they were most likely more interested in this topic because it was personally relevant for them. Second, our findings suggest that psychiatric patients are more sensitive to cognitive load elicited by videos than healthy controls. In fact, previous studies did not found differences between cognitive load elicited by videos and texts in healthy individuals (Hefter & Berthold, 2020; Hoogerheide et al., 2014;

Kramer et al., 2020). Also this is supported by previous literature, as studies have shown that individuals with psychiatric disorders can show cognitive deficits (Etkin et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2021; Millan et al., 2012; Tripathi et al., 2018). Although the range of cognitive problems between psychiatric patients can be diverse, the cognitive domains which mainly appear to be affected are executive functions, attention and information processing, as well as working memory (Trivedi, 2006). Given the involvement of the working memory in multimedia learning (Mayer, 2005) and the matter that anything that consumes the capacity of the working memory is defined cognitive load (Sweller, 1988), it appears plausible that individuals who experience deficits in this domain also experience higher cognitive load.

In summary, our results suggest that there are no differences in the effectiveness of videobased compared to text-based learning in psychiatric patients as well as healthy controls. However, as we did not find evidence for the effectiveness of both video- and text-based learning when including covariates into the analyses, future research should investigate whether the type of learning instrument is decisive or whether other factors such as interest for the topic and cognitive load may be more relevant for learning outcomes.

### 6.1 Implications

Even if the findings were not completely in line with the hypotheses, they have several implications. First, they suggest that videos and texts can be an equally effective learning instruments for both psychiatric patients and healthy controls. This is especially relevant considering that videos are often used as psychoeducational instruments in internet-based interventions for psychiatric patients to present the content in an appealing way (Bücker, Schnakenberg, et al., 2019; Bücker, Westermann, et al., 2019) and to address low

adherence and high dropout rates (Melville et al., 2010; Wangberg et al., 2008). In fact, previous studies report that videos can have a positive effect on learning motivation (Bravo et al., 2011; Laksmi et al., 2021; Ledford, 1968; Liao et al., 2019) and lower dropout rates (Linardon et al., 2021). However, up until now, no studies investigated the effectiveness of video-based learning in psychiatric patients compared to text-based learning.

While the findings of the present study supported the use of both videos and texts as learning instruments in internet-based interventions for psychiatric patients, they also showed that these individuals are more sensitive to the cognitive load elicited by videos. Therefore, they suggest that these videos should be produced, limiting cognitive load as much as possible, especially intrinsic load. Mayer proposed different techniques to reduce intrinsic processing. These are the following: describe names and characteristics of key elements of the lesson before showing multimedia material, use spoken text rather than printed text and use words and pictures rather than words alone. Although there is no data that supports the effectiveness of these techniques, they have a theoretical foundation and could be used in future studies.

In summary, the findings support the use of both videos and texts as psychoeducational instruments in internet-based interventions for psychiatric patients. However, videos should be designed in a way that they elicit as little cognitive load as possible.

### 6.2 Limitations and future studies

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that compared the effectiveness of text-based and video-based learning between psychiatric patients and healthy controls. While the findings brought new and important information to the literature, there are some

limitations that we address in the following. First, the present findings should be replicated with education and gender distributed homogeneously in psychiatric patients and healthy controls. Especially education may have impacted the learning outcome of participants. Future studies should match clinical and healthy participants regarding relevant sociodemographic characteristics. Second, to assess changes over time in knowledge, a quantitative multiple-choice measure was chosen to provide objective scoring and accommodate research time. However, a qualitative evaluation could be considered a broader assessment gathering more detailed information. At the same time, a disadvantage of a qualitative assessment is the fact that it is more difficult to score and analyze objectively. Therefore, future research on this topic could include both, quantitative and qualitative assessments. Furthermore, we found that the average baseline score of the multiple-choice test was 18 out of 30, suggesting that a harder test was viable. Third, on an important note, we used a repeated measures ANCOVA to control for group differences between healthy controls and psychiatric patients. However, one of the assumptions of the repeated measures ANCOVA is that the covariates are distributed homogeneously between the groups that are analyzed. Therefore, this aspect may reduce the validity of the results of the analyses. Future studies could use alternative analyses, like mediation analyses.

Forth, to evaluate if a participant was categorized as healthy control or psychiatric patient, we used the WSQ. The problem of screening questionnaires overestimating clinical symptoms has been often reported in literature (Andrews et al., 2006; Thombs et al., 2018). For this reason, we choose to assign participants to the psychiatric patient's group only if they fulfilled screening criteria for at least two diagnoses of the WSQ. Participants who fulfilled screening criteria for less than two diagnoses were categorized as healthy

controls. Therefore, our findings need to be replicated in a sample of healthy individuals and psychiatric patients with validated diagnoses, for example by means of structured clinical interviews or expert ratings. Furthermore, future research should also consider other important clinical information, like the onset of the disorders and the pharmacological and psychological treatment, that could also have an impact on the learning outcome of the patients. Finally, future studies could examine if there are any differences in video-based learning, text-based learning, and in elicited cognitive load between different psychiatric diagnoses.

## 6.3 Conclusions

Overall, these findings suggest that videos and texts can be equally effective learning instruments. However, because the results were not confirmed when it was controlled for group differences, more research is needed on this topic to draw stronger conclusions. Patients seem to be more sensitive to the cognitive load elicited by videos, suggesting that one should structure videos that are aimed to be used with these individuals, so that cognitive load is minimized. Psychiatric patients also showed to be more interested in sleep disturbances than healthy controls suggesting that a more neutral topic should be chosen when video-based and text-based learning in psychiatric patients and healthy controls is studied. Furthermore, our findings need to replicated in future studies using matched samples and assessing validated psychiatric diagnoses.

# **Bibliography**

Aktinson, R. C., & Shiffrin, R. M. (1968). Human memory: A proposed system and its control processes. *Human memory: a proposed system and its control processes*.

https://cogs.sitehost.iu.edu/FestschriftForRichShiffrin/pubs/1968%20Human%20Memo ry.%20Atkinson,%20Shiffrin.pdf

Alshammari, E. (2019). Teaching Schizophrenia: 8-Minutes Video Based Lecture

Versus 1-hour Traditional Lecture. Journal of Pharmaceutical Research International,

1-4. https://doi.org/10.9734/jpri/2019/v26i530147

Andrews, B., Hejdenberg, J., & Wilding, J. (2006). Student anxiety and depression:

Comparison of questionnaire and interview assessments. Journal of Affective Disorders,

95(1-3), 29-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.05.003

Atkinson, R. C., & Shiffrin, R. M. (1968). The psychology of learning and motivation.

Ayres, P., & Sweller, J. (2005). The Split-Attention Principle in Multimedia Learning.

In R. Mayer (A c. Di), The Cambridge Handbook of Multimedia Learning (1<sup>a</sup> ed., pagg.

135–146). Cambridge University Press.

https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511816819.009

Baddeley, A. D., & Hitch, G. (1974). Working memory. Working memory.

Baddeley, A. D., & Hitch, G. J. L. (2009). *The psychology of learning and motivation: Advances in research and theory*.

Bandura, A. (1971). Social learning theory.

Barut Tugtekin, E., & Dursun, O. O. (2021). Effect of animated and interactive video variations on learners' motivation in distance Education. *Education and Information Technologies*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10735-5

Blanca, M. J., Alarcón, R., & Arnau, J. (2017). Non-normal data: Is ANOVA still a valid option? *Psicothema*, *29.4*, 552–557. https://doi.org/10.7334/psicothema2016.383 Boeree, C. G. (2000). *Gestalt psychology*.

Braun, L., Titzler, I., Terhorst, Y., Freund, J., Thielecke, J., Ebert, D. D., & Baumeister,
H. (2021). Effectiveness of guided internet-based interventions in the indicated
prevention of depression in green professions (PROD-A): Results of a pragmatic
randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *278*, 658–671.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.066

Bravo, E., Amante, B., Simo, P., Enache, M., & Fernandez, V. (2011). Video as a new teaching tool to increase student motivation. *2011 IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON)*, 638–642. https://doi.org/10.1109/EDUCON.2011.5773205

Brennan, J. F., & Houde, K. A. (2017). *History and Systems of Psychology:* (7<sup>a</sup> ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316827178

Bücker, L., Schnakenberg, P., Karyotaki, E., Moritz, S., & Westermann, S. (2019).

Diminishing Effects After Recurrent Use of Self-Guided Internet-Based Interventions in Depression: Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*,

21(10), e14240. https://doi.org/10.2196/14240

Bücker, L., Westermann, S., Kühn, S., & Moritz, S. (2019). A self-guided Internetbased intervention for individuals with gambling problems: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, *20*(1), 74. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-019-3176z

Castro-Alonso, J. C., Ayres, P., Wong, M., & Paas, F. (2018). Learning symbols from permanent and transient visual presentations: Don't overplay the hand. *Computers* & *Education*, *116*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.08.011

Çeliköz, N., Erişen, Y., & Şahin, M. (2019). *Cognitive learning theories with emphasis* on latent learning, gestalt and information processing theories.

Chandler, P., & Sweller, J. (1991). Cognitive Load Theory and the Format of

Instruction. Cognition and Instruction, 8(4), 293–332.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532690xci0804\_2

Chen, L., Zeng, S., & Wang, W. (2021). The influence of emotion and learner control on multimedia learning. *Learning and Motivation*, *76*, 101762.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lmot.2021.101762

Chi, D. L., Pickrell, J. E., & Riedy, C. A. (2014). Student learning outcomes associated with video vs. Paper cases in a public health dentistry course. *Journal of Dental Education*, 78(1), 24–30.

Choi, H. J., & Johnson, S. D. (2005). The Effect of Context-Based Video Instruction on Learning and Motivation in Online Courses. *American Journal of Distance Education*, *19*(4), 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15389286ajde1904\_3

Chu, G. C., & Schramm, W. (1975). *Learning from Television: What the Research Says. Revised Edition.* 

Cohrs, S. (2008). Sleep Disturbances in Patients with Schizophrenia: Impact and Effect of Antipsychotics. *CNS Drugs*, *22*(11), 939–962. https://doi.org/10.2165/00023210-200822110-00004

Derogatis, L. R., & Cleary, P. A. (1977). Factorial invariance across gender for the primary symptom dimensions of the SCL-90. *British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *16*(4), 347–356. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8260.1977.tb00241.x Donker, T., Straten, A. van, Marks, I., & Cuijpers, P. (2009). A Brief Web-Based Screening Questionnaire for Common Mental Disorders: Development and Validation.

Journal of Medical Internet Research, 11(3), e19. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1134 Dosher, B. A. (2003). Working memory. *Working memory*.

Ericsson, K. A., & Kintsch, W. (1995). Long-term working memory. *Psychological Review*, *102*(2), 211–245. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.102.2.211

Ertmer, P. A., & Newby, T. J. (2013). Behaviorism, Cognitivism, Constructivism:

Comparing Critical Features From an Instructional Design Perspective. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, *26*(2), 43–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21143

Etkin, A., Gyurak, A., & O'Hara, R. (2013). A neurobiological approach to the

cognitive deficits of psychiatric disorders. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience, 15(4),

419-429. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2013.15.4/aetkin

Franzen, P. L., & Buysse, D. J. (2008). Sleep disturbances and depression: Risk relationships for subsequent depression and therapeutic implications. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *10*(4), 473–481.

https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2008.10.4/plfranzen

Freeman, D., Sheaves, B., Waite, F., Harvey, A. G., & Harrison, P. J. (2020). Sleep disturbance and psychiatric disorders. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(7), 628–637.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30136-X

Furnham, A., & Gunter, B. (1987). Effects of time of day and medium of presentation on immediate recall of violent and non-violent news. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*,

1(4), 255–262. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.2350010404

Giannakos, M., Chorianopoulos, K., Ronchetti, M., Szegedi, P., & Teasley, S. (2014).
Video-Based Learning and Open Online Courses. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET)*, 9(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v9i1.3354
Guo, S., Deng, W., Wang, H., Liu, J., Liu, X., Yang, X., He, C., Zhang, Q., Liu, B.,

Dong, X., Yang, Z., Li, Z., & Li, X. (2021). The efficacy of internet-based cognitive behavioural therapy for social anxiety disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *28*(3), 656–668.

https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2528

Hardt, J., Egle, U. T., Kappis, B., Hessel, A., & Brähler, E. (2004). Die Symptom-

Checkliste SCL-27: Ergebnisse einer deutschen Repräsentativbefragung. PPmP -

*Psychotherapie* · *Psychosomatik* · *Medizinische Psychologie*, 54(5), 214–223.

https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2003-814786

Harwell, M. R., Rubinstein, E. N., Hayes, W. S., & Olds, C. C. (1992). Summarizing Monte Carlo Results in Methodological Research: The One- and Two-Factor Fixed Effects ANOVA Cases. *Journal of Educational Statistics*, *17*(4), 315.

https://doi.org/10.2307/1165127

Hefter, M. H., & Berthold, K. (2020). Preparing learners to self-explain video examples: Text or video introduction? *Computers in Human Behavior*, *110*, 106404.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106404

Homer, B. D., Plass, J. L., & Blake, L. (2008). The effects of video on cognitive load and social presence in multimedia-learning. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *24*(3), 786– 797. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2007.02.009

Hoogerheide, V., Loyens, S. M. M., & van Gog, T. (2014). Comparing the effects of worked examples and modeling examples on learning. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *41*, 80–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.09.013

Kalyuga, S. (2011). Cognitive Load Theory: How Many Types of Load Does It Really Need? *Educational Psychology Review*, *23*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-010-9150-7

Kanner, J. H. (1954). Television in Army Training: Evaluation of Television in Army Basic Training.

Kanner, J. H. (1958). Teaching by television in the army-an overview.

Kinnear, P. R., & Gray, C. D. (2009). *SPSS 16 made simple* (1. publ). Psychology Press. Kolekar, S. V., Pai, R. M., & Pai M.M., M. (2018). Adaptive User Interface for Moodle based E-learning System using Learning Styles. *Procedia Computer Science*, *135*, 606– 615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2018.08.226

Korkut, S., Dornberger, R., Diwanji, P., Puthur Simon, B., & Maerki, M. (2015).

Success Factors of Online Learning Videos. *International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies (iJIM)*, *9*(4), 17. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijim.v9i4.4460

Kramer, C., König, J., Strauß, S., & Kaspar, K. (2020). Classroom videos or transcripts? A quasi-experimental study to assess the effects of media-based learning on pre-service teachers' situation-specific skills of classroom management. *International Journal of Educational Research*, *103*, 101624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2020.101624

Laksmi, N. K. P., Yasa, I. K. A., & Mirayani, K. A. M. (2021). The use of animation video as learning media for young learners to improve EFL students' motivation in learning English. *Lingua*, *17*(1), 42–52. https://doi.org/10.34005/lingua.v17i1.1378

Le, Y., Liu, J., Deng, C., & Dai, D. Y. (2018). Heart rate variability reflects the effects of emotional design principle on mental effort in multimedia learning. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *89*, 40–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.07.037

Leahy, W., & Sweller, J. (2011). Cognitive load theory, modality of presentation and the transient information effect. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, *25*(6), 943–951. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.1787

Ledford, L. E. (1968). Educational television in the small school. 5.

Liao, C.-W., Chen, C.-H., & Shih, S.-J. (2019). The interactivity of video and collaboration for learning achievement, intrinsic motivation, cognitive load, and behavior patterns in a digital game-based learning environment. *Computers & Education*, *133*, 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.01.013

Lilienfeld, S., Lynn, S. J., Namy, L., & Woolf, N. (2010). *A Framework for Everyday Thinking*.

Lim, S. L., Yang, J.-C., Ehrisman, J., Havrilesky, L. J., & Reed, S. D. (2020). Are Videos or Text Better for Describing Attributes in Stated-Preference Surveys? *The Patient - Patient-Centered Outcomes Research*, *13*(4), 401–408.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40271-020-00416-9

Linardon, J., Messer, M., Shatte, A., Greenwood, C. J., Rosato, J., Rathgen, A., Skvarc, D., & Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M. (2021). Does the method of content delivery matter? Randomized controlled comparison of an internet-based intervention for eating disorder symptoms with and without interactive functionality. *Behavior Therapy*, S0005789421001489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2021.12.001

Liu, J., Liu, B., Wang, M., Ju, Y., Dong, Q., Lu, X., Sun, J., Zhang, L., Guo, H., Zhao,
F., Li, W., Zhang, L., Li, Z., Zhang, Y., Liao, M., & Li, L. (2021). Evidence for
Progressive Cognitive Deficits in Patients With Major Depressive Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12, 627695. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.627695

Lix, L. M., Keselman, J. C., & Keselman, H. J. (1996). Consequences of Assumption Violations Revisited: A Quantitative Review of Alternatives to the One-Way Analysis of Variance «F» Test. *Review of Educational Research*, *66*(4), 579.

https://doi.org/10.2307/1170654

Locke, J. (1690). An Essay concerning Humane Understanding. London: Printed for

Tho. Basset. Sold by Edw. Mory.

Mayer, R. E. (2005). The Cambridge Handbook of multimedia learning.

Mayer, R. E., Moreno, R., Boire, M., & Vagge, S. (1999). Maximizing constructivist learning from multimedia communications by minimizing cognitive load. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *91*(4), 638–643. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.91.4.638 Melville, K. M., Casey, L. M., & Kavanagh, D. J. (2010). Dropout from Internet-based treatment for psychological disorders. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *49*(4), 455–471. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466509X472138

Merkt, M., Weigand, S., Heier, A., & Schwan, S. (2011). Learning with videos vs. learning with print: The role of interactive features. *Learning and Instruction*, S0959475211000247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2011.03.004

Miegel, F., Gehlenborg, J., Bücker, L., Lion, D., & Moritz, S. (2019). Kann eine Online-Intervention für Depressionen emotionale Probleme und Schmerzen lindern? Eine randomisiert-kontrollierte Studie. *Verhaltenstherapie*, *29*(3), 166–181. https://doi.org/10.1159/000501736

Millan, M. J., Agid, Y., Brüne, M., Bullmore, E. T., Carter, C. S., Clayton, N. S.,
Connor, R., Davis, S., Deakin, B., DeRubeis, R. J., Dubois, B., Geyer, M. A., Goodwin,
G. M., Gorwood, P., Jay, T. M., Joëls, M., Mansuy, I. M., Meyer-Lindenberg, A.,
Murphy, D., ... Young, L. J. (2012). Cognitive dysfunction in psychiatric disorders:
Characteristics, causes and the quest for improved therapy. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, *11*(2), 141–168. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3628

Miller, G. A. (1956). The magical number seven, plus or minus two: Some limits on our capacity for processing information. *The magical number seven, plus or minus two: some limits on our capacity for processing information.* 

Oxford. (1922). Platonis Opera Vol. III. (Ioannes Burnet).

https://marom.net.technion.ac.il/files/2018/09/Meno.pdf (Original work was published ca. 385 B.C.E.)

Paas, F. G. W. C. (1992). Training strategies for attaining transfer of problem-solving skill in statistics: A cognitive-load approach. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *84*(4), 429–434. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.84.4.429

Paas, Renkl, A., & Sweller, J. (2003). Cognitive Load Theory and Instructional Design: Recent Developments. *Educational Psychologist*, *38*(1), 1–4.

https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326985EP3801 1

Paas, van Gog, T., & Sweller, J. (2010). Cognitive Load Theory: New

Conceptualizations, Specifications, and Integrated Research Perspectives. Educational

Psychology Review, 22(2), 115–121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-010-9133-8

Paas, & Van Merriënboer. (1994). Variability of worked examples and transfer of geometrical problem-solving skills: A cognitive-load approach. *Journal of Educational* 

Psychology, 86(1), 122–133. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.86.1.122

Paivio, A. (1986). *Mental Representations: A Dual Coding Approach*. Oxford, England:Oxford University Press.

Pavlov, I. (1903). Experimental psychology and the psychopathology of animals.

Pintrich, P. R. (1999). The role of motivation in promoting and sustaining self-regulated learning. *International Journal of Educational Research*, *31*(6), 459–470.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0883-0355(99)00015-4

Rachamim, L., Mualem-Taylor, H., Rachamim, O., Rotstein, M., & Zimmerman-

Brenner, S. (2021). Acute and Long-Term Effects of an Internet-Based, Self-Help

Comprehensive Behavioral Intervention for Children and Teens with Tic Disorders with

Comorbid Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, or Obsessive Compulsive Disorder:

A Reanalysis of Data from a Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of Clinical

Medicine, 11(1), 45. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11010045

Ramsay, S. A., Holyoke, L., Branen, L. J., & Fletcher, J. (2012). Six Characteristics of Nutrition Education Videos That Support Learning and Motivation to Learn. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *44*(6), 614–617.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2011.10.010

Reins, J. A., Buntrock, C., Zimmermann, J., Grund, S., Harrer, M., Lehr, D.,

Baumeister, H., Weisel, K., Domhardt, M., Imamura, K., Kawakami, N., Spek, V.,

Nobis, S., Snoek, F., Cuijpers, P., Klein, J. P., Moritz, S., & Ebert, D. D. (2020).

Efficacy and Moderators of Internet-Based Interventions in Adults with Subthreshold

Depression: An Individual Participant Data Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled

Trials. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1159/000507819

Sablić, M., Mirosavljević, A., & Škugor, A. (2021). Video-Based Learning (VBL)-

Past, Present and Future: An Overview of the Research Published from 2008 to 2019.

*Technology, Knowledge and Learning, 26*(4), 1061–1077.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10758-020-09455-5

Sangrà, A., Vlachopoulos, D., & Cabrera, N. (2012). Building an inclusive definition of e-learning: An approach to the conceptual framework. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *13*(2), 145.

https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v13i2.1161

Schmider, E., Ziegler, M., Danay, E., Beyer, L., & Bühner, M. (2010). Is It Really Robust?: Reinvestigating the Robustness of ANOVA Against Violations of the Normal Distribution Assumption. *Methodology*, *6*(4), 147–151. https://doi.org/10.1027/16142241/a000016

Schuelper, N., Ludwig, S., Anders, S., & Raupach, T. (2019). The Impact of Medical Students' Individual Teaching Format Choice on the Learning Outcome Related to Clinical Reasoning. *JMIR Medical Education*, *5*(2), e13386.

https://doi.org/10.2196/13386

Skinner, B. F. (1971). Operant conditioning.

Sloan, T. W., & Lewis, D. A. (2014). Lecture Capture Technology and Student
Performance in an Operations Management Course: Capture Technology and Student
Performance. *Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education*, *12*(4), 339–355.
https://doi.org/10.1111/dsji.12041

Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive Load During Problem Solving: Effects on Learning. *Cognitive Science*, *12*(2), 257–285. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15516709cog1202\_4
Sweller, J. (1994). Cognitive load theory, learning difficulty, and instructional design. *Learning and Instruction*, *4*(4), 295–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-4752(94)90003-5

Sweller, J. (2005). Implications of Cognitive Load Theory for Multimedia Learning. In
R. Mayer (A c. Di), *The Cambridge Handbook of Multimedia Learning* (1<sup>a</sup> ed., pagg. 19–30). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511816819.003
Sweller, J. (2010). Cognitive Load Theory: Recent Theoretical Advances. In J. L. Plass,
R. Moreno, & R. Brunken (A c. Di), *Cognitive Load Theory* (pagg. 29–47). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511844744.004

Sweller, J. (2011). Cognitive Load Theory. In *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*(Vol. 55, pagg. 37–76). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-387691-1.00002-8
Sweller, J., Chandler, P., Tierney, P., & Cooper, M. (1990). Cognitive load as a factor in

the structuring of technical material. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *119*(2), 176–192. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.119.2.176

Syaparuddin, S., & Elihami, E. (2020). *Improving student learning motivation through the utilization of video media in education students*.

Taylor, C. B., Graham, A. K., Flatt, R. E., Waldherr, K., & Fitzsimmons-Craft, E. E.

(2021). Current state of scientific evidence on Internet-based interventions for the

treatment of depression, anxiety, eating disorders and substance abuse: An overview of

systematic reviews and meta-analyses. European Journal of Public Health,

31(Supplement\_1), i3-i10. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckz208

Thombs, B. D., Kwakkenbos, L., Levis, A. W., & Benedetti, A. (2018). Addressing overestimation of the prevalence of depression based on self-report screening questionnaires. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *190*(2), E44–E49.

https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.170691

Tripathi, A., Kar, S. K., & Shukla, R. (2018). Cognitive Deficits in Schizophrenia: Understanding the Biological Correlates and Remediation Strategies. *Clinical Psychopharmacology and Neuroscience*, *16*(1), 7–17.

https://doi.org/10.9758/cpn.2018.16.1.7

Trivedi, J. (2006). Cognitive deficits in psychiatric disorders: Current status. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, 48(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5545.31613

van Gog, T., Kirschner, F., Kester, L., & Paas, F. (2012). Timing and Frequency of Mental Effort Measurement: Evidence in Favour of Repeated Measures: Measuring mental effort. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, *26*(6), 833–839.

https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.2883

Wachtler, J., Hubmann, M., Zöhrer, H., & Ebner, M. (2016). An analysis of the use and

effect of questions in interactive learning-videos. *Smart Learning Environments*, *3*(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-016-0033-3

Walma Van Der Molen, J. H., & Van Der Voort, T. H. A. (2000). Children's and

Adults' Recall of Television and Print News in Children's and Adult News Formats.

Communication Research, 27(2), 132–160.

https://doi.org/10.1177/009365000027002002

Wangberg, S. C., Bergmo, T. S., & Johnsen, J.-A. K. (2008). Adherence in Internetbased interventions. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, *2*, 57–65.

Watson, J. B. (1913). Psychology as the behaviorist views it. Psychological Review,

20(2), 158-177. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0074428

Yount, W. R. (1996). Created to learn. Nashville: Broadman & Holman.

Zhang, D., Zhou, L., Briggs, R. O., & Nunamaker, J. F. (2006). Instructional video in elearning: Assessing the impact of interactive video on learning effectiveness.

Information & Management, 43(1), 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2005.01.004

# Appendix



# Image sleep disturbances video

# Image social competence video



# **Original knowledge test (German)**

Item 11: Personen mit guten sozialen Fähigkeiten können diese auch immer einsetzen. o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 14: Die Bildung einer Person beeinflusst die Entwicklung der sozialen Kompetenz. o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 2: Die soziale Kompetenz wird von folgenden Faktoren beeinflusst: den sozialen Fähigkeiten, der Persönlichkeit und der Stimmung.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 6: Zu lernen, seine eigenen Interessen gegenüber Anderen unterzuordnen, zeugt von einer hohen sozialen Kompetenz.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 13: Einzelkinder haben oft eine niedrigere soziale Kompetenz.

o Richtig

Item 30: Vollmond ist ein wichtiger Umgebungsfaktor, der dazu beitragen kann eine Schlafstörung auszulösen.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 4: Zu lernen, seine eigenen Interessen gegenüber Anderen durchzusetzen, zeugt von einer hohen sozialen Kompetenz.

### o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 19: Ein helles Zimmer kann zu Ein- und Durchschlafstörungen führen.

### o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 7: Zur sozialen Kompetenz gehört auch die Fähigkeit, um Sympathie zu werben.

#### o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 17: Muskelschmerzen zählen zu den häufigsten Folgen von Schlafmangel.

o Richtig

Item 5: Seine eigenen Interessen den Interessen Anderer unterzuordnen, bedeutet, eine niedrige soziale Kompetenz zu haben.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 21: Um eine Schlafstörung behandeln zu können, muss zunächst der Auslöser identifiziert und beseitigt werden.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 16: Morgens zu spät aufzustehen, ist bei vielen Menschen der Auslöser von Schlafstörungen.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 1: Die Fähigkeit die Körpersprache einer Person zu lesen ist ein wichtiger

Bestandteil der sozialen Kompetenz.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 28: Schlafmedikamente sind der effektivste Weg, eine Schlafstörung zu behandeln.

o Richtig

Item 26: Nach einer Nacht mit wenig Schlaf sollte man in den nächsten Nächten besonders lange schlafen, um den Schlafmangel auszugleichen.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 12: Eine Person mit einer hohen sozialen Kompetenz fühlt sich in jeder Situation wohl.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 18: Augenreizungen zählen zu den häufigsten Folgen von Schlafmangel.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 10: Die drei wichtigsten Faktoren der sozialen Kompetenz sind: die sozialen Fähigkeiten, das Überwinden von Blockaden und die eigenen Normen und Werte.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 24: Gereizte Stimmung tritt als Folge von Schlafmangel, aber auch als Folge von zu viel Schlaf auf.

o Richtig

Item 27: Mittagsschlaf kann helfen, eine Schlafstörung zu verbessern.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 22: Im Großteil der Fälle ist eine organische (körperliche) Ursache der Auslöser für eine Schlafstörung.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 25: Der Schlaf vor Mitternacht ist erholsamer, als der in den Stunden danach.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 3: Soziale Kompetenz wird definiert als die Fähigkeit, eine nette und freundliche Einstellung zu haben.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 8: Die soziale Kompetenz ist abhängig von den persönlichen Normen und Werten.

o Richtig

Item 29: Es gibt Techniken, die man lernen kann um seinen Schlaf zu verbessern, sie sind aber oft nicht wirksam.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 20: Rückenschmerzen zählen zu den häufigsten Folgen von Schlafmangel.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 23: Eine Schlafstörung wird durch den Zusammenhang verschiedener Faktoren aufrecht erhalten.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 9: Eine positive Beziehungsgestaltung bedeutet, seine eigenen Bedürfnisse den Bedürfnissen Anderer immer unterzuordnen.

o Richtig

o Falsch

Item 15: Menschen, die wenig Freunde haben, haben eine niedrige soziale Kompetenz.

o Richtig

# Translated knowledge test (English)

Item 11: People with a high social competence can always deploy it.

o True

o False

Item 14: The education of a person influences the development of her social competence.

o True

o False

Item 2: The social competence is influenced by following factors: the social abilities, the personality, and the mood.

o True

o False

Item 6: Learn to subordinate one's own interests to others, shows a high level of social competence.

o True

o False

Item 13: Only children often have a lower social competence.

o True

o False

Item 30: A full moon is an important environmental factor that can contribute to trigger a sleep disorder.

o True

o False

Item 4: Learn to assert one's own interests over others, shows a high level of social competence.

### o True

o False

Item 19: A bright room can lead to problems of falling asleep and sleeping through the night.

## o True

o False

Item 7: Social competence also includes the ability to solicit sympathy.

o True

o False

Item 17: Muscle pain is one of the most common consequences of lack of sleep.

o True

o False

Item 5: Subordinating one's own interests to the interests of others means having low social skills.

o True

o False

Item 21: To treat a sleep disorder, you need first to identify and eliminate the trigger.

o True

o False

Item 16: Getting up late in the morning is for many people the trigger which develops sleep disorders.

o True

o False

Item 1: The ability to read a person's body language is an important part of the social competence.

o True

o False

Item 28: Sleep medication is the most effective way to treat a sleep disorder.

o True

o False
Item 26: After a night with little sleep, you should sleep extra-long the next fight nights to compensate for the lack of sleep.

o True

o False

Item 12: A person with a high social competence feels comfortable in any situation.

o True

o False

Item 18: Eye irritation is one of the most common consequences of lack of sleep.

o True

o False

Item 10: The three most important factors of social competence are: social skills, overcoming blockades and one's own norms and values.

## o True

o False

Item 24: An irritable mood occurs as a result of lack of sleep, but also as a result of sleeping too much.

o True

o False

Item 27: Napping can help improve a sleep disorder.

o True

o False

Item 22: In most cases, an organic (physical) cause is the trigger for a sleep disorder.

o True

o False

Item 25: Sleep before midnight is more restful, than sleep in after midnight.

o True

o False

Item 3: Social competence is defined as the ability to have a nice and friendly attitude.

o True

o False

Item 8: Social competence depends on personal norms and values.

o True

o False

Item 29: There are techniques you can learn to improve your sleep, but they are often not effective.

o True

o False

Item 20: Backpain is one of the most common consequences of lack of sleep.

o True

o False

Item 23: A sleep disorder is maintained by the connection of various factors.

o True

o False

Item 9: In a healthy relationship, you tend to subordinate your own needs to the needs of others.

o True

o False

Item 15: People who have few friends, have low social competence.

o True

o False